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I. 

Background, Complaint and Allegations  
 

• The Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council of Washington State has been 
registered with the PDC as a Lobbyist Employer dating back to at least 1996, filing L-3 and 
L-3c reports disclosing expenditures made to hire a contract lobbyist to lobby, and 
contributions made to candidates and political committees. 
 

• On December 11, 2018, the Public Disclosure Commission (PDC) received a complaint filed 
by Maxford Nelson with the Freedom Foundation against the Amalgamated Transit Union 
Legislative Council of Washington State (ATULC), alleging that the ATULC may have 
violated: (1) RCW 42.17A.205 by failing to register as a political committee by filing a 
Committee Registration (C-1pc report); and (2) RCW 42.17A.235 and .240 by failing to 
timely file Monetary Contributions reports (C-3 reports) and Summary Full Campaign 
Contribution and Expenditure reports (C-4 reports) disclosing contribution and expenditure 
activities undertaken during calendar years 2014 through 2018.  Exhibit #1.  

 
• On January 31, 2019, Mr. Nelson on behalf of the Freedom Foundation, submitted a 

supplemental letter in response to the letter submitted by Mr. Iglitzin.  Exhibit #2. 
 

• On March 7, 2019, the PDC opened a formal investigation into the Committee concerning 
the allegations listed in the complaint filed against the ATULC and held an Initial Hearing 
(Case Status Review Hearing) pursuant to RCW 42.17A.755 and WACs 390-37-060 and 
390-37-071.  

 
 

mailto:pdc@pdc.wa.gov
http://www.pdc.wa.gov/
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II. 
Findings 

 
• As a Lobbyist Employer registered and reporting with the PDC, ATULC has as one of its 

primary purposes is to support legislation through lobbying efforts, to which ATULC 
devoted significant resources and time on based on staff’s review.  ATULC also spends 
resources for ATU local members and membership services, transportation and transit issues, 
and overhead, and ATULC’s stated goals and mission extend beyond making contributions 
to candidates for public office and political committees. 
 

• The Commission had adopted PDC Interpretation 07-02, Primary Purpose Test 
Guidelines, which distills relevant case law and other legal guidance (AGO 1973 no. 14, 
State v. Dan Evans Committee, and Evergreen Freedom Foundation v. Washington 
Education Association) concerning the definition of “political committee” in RCW 
42.17.020(39).  The Interpretation goes on to state the following: 

 
“The trial court here adopted the broad standard "one of the primary purposes" and applied it 
in formulating its own rule: An organization is a political committee if one of its primary 
purposes is to affect governmental decision making by supporting or opposing 
candidates or ballot propositions, and it makes or expects to make contributions in 
support of or in opposition to a candidate or ballot measure.” 

 
The Interpretation begins its analysis by noting that the trial court “correctly formulated this 
rule, and as the only mandatory authority on this issue, Evans controls interpretations of the 
"maker of expenditures" prong.”  In addition, the declaration of policy at the beginning of the 
Public Disclosure Act states that its “provisions are to be liberally construed "to promote 
complete disclosure of ... political campaigns...." RCW 42.17.010(11).  The Interpretation 
states: “a person is a political committee if that person becomes a “receiver of contributions” 
to support or oppose candidates or ballot propositions, or if expenditures to support or oppose 
candidates or ballot propositions become one of the person’s primary purposes.” 

 
The Interpretation also discusses “a nonexclusive list of analytical tools a court may use 
when evaluating the evidence includes: (1) the content of the stated goals and mission of the 
organization; (2) whether the organization's actions further its stated goals and mission; (3) 
whether the stated goals and mission of the organization would be substantially achieved by a 
favorable outcome in an upcoming election; and (4) whether the organization uses means 
other than electoral political activity to achieve its stated goals and mission.”  
 

• Staff’s review of the response from Dmitri Iglitzin, an attorney on behalf of Schwerin 
Campbell Barnard Iglitzin & Lavitt LLP on behalf of Amalgamated Transit Union 
Legislative Council of Washington State (ATULC), and the lobbying activities undertaken 
by the ATULC for calendar years 2014 through 2018, including contributions made to 
candidates and political committees, found the following as detailed below.  
 

2014 calendar year:   
 

• ATULC made $80,507 in total expenditures that included $18,745 in monetary contributions 
made to 2014 candidates for public office.  He stated that the percentage of expenditures for 
contributions made to total contributions represented 23%. 
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• Staff’s review of the L-3 report filed by the ATULC for calendar year 2014 disclosed Cody 

Arledge, a contract lobbyist, received a total of $31,999 in compensation to lobby.  The L-3 
report for 2014 was required to have been filed the last day of February 2015 and was filed 
almost one year late on February 22, 2016.    

 
2015 calendar year:   

 
• Staff’s review found that ATULC filed two L-3c reports disclosing five monetary 

contributions totaling $3,900 were made to two 2015 candidates for public office, one caucus 
political committee, one legislative district party committee, and one caucus related political 
committee.   
 

• The review also found that ATULC filed the L-3 report disclosing Cody Arledge, a contract 
lobbyist, received a total of $35,600 in compensation to lobby during calendar year 2015.  
The L-3 report for calendar year 2015 was required to have been filed by ATULC by the last 
day of February 2016 and was timely filed on February 22, 2016.   

 
2016 calendar year:   

 
• ATULC made $101,443 in total expenditures that included $35,451 in monetary 

contributions made to 2016 candidates for public office.  He stated that ATULC’s percentage 
of expenditures for contributions made to total contributions represented 35% for calendar 
year 2016. 
 

• Staff’s review of the L-3 report filed by the ATULC disclosed that Johnson Arledge 
Strategies, a contract lobbying firm, received a total of $25,200 in compensation to lobby 
during calendar year 2016.  The L-3 report for 2016 was required to have been filed the last 
day of February 2017 and was filed almost one year late on January 31, 2018.  Staff’s review 
found the L-3c reports filed by ATULC for calendar year 2016 timely disclosed 41 monetary 
contributions totaling $34,500 except for one contribution disclosed one day late as follows: 
 

Contribution 
Date 

Date Due Date Filed # of contributions Amount Days 
Late 

2/11/2016 3/15/2016 2/24/2016 1 to Dime PAC $   1,500 0 
4/22/2016 5/16/2016 5/17/2016 1 to Dime PAC $   8,500 1 
5/20/2016 6/15/2016 5/25/2016 2 to local Candidates $   2,000 0 
6/3/2016 7/15/2016 7/2/2016 21 to Leg Candidates  $   8,500 0 
7/20/2016 8/15/2016 8/2/2016 3 to 2 Leg and 1 Local 

Candidate 
$   1,500 0 

8/29/2016 9/15/2016 9/3/2016 1 local candidate $   1,000 0 
9/16/2016 10/15/2016 10/12/2016 11 to 9 Leg and 2 Local 

Candidate 
$ 11,000 0 

10/6/2016 11/15/2016 11/1/2016 1 to Leg Candidate $      500 0 
 Totals  41 total contributions $ 34,500  

 
2017 calendar year:   

• Staff’s review found that ATULC filed two L-3c reports disclosing six monetary 
contributions totaling $3,250 were made to 2017 candidates for public office.   
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• The L-3 report filed by the ATULC disclosed that Johnson Arledge Strategies, a contract 

lobbying firm, received a total of $31,976 in compensation to lobby during calendar year 
2017.  The L-3 report for 2017 was required to have been filed the last day of February 2018 
and was timely filed on January 31, 2018.   

 
2018 calendar year:   

 
• ATULC made $104,227 in total expenditures that included $31,367 in monetary 

contributions made to 2018 candidates for public office.  He stated that ATULC’s percentage 
of expenditures for contributions made to total contributions represented 30% in calendar 
year 2018. 

 
• Staff’s review of the L-3 report filed by the ATULC disclosed that the Arledge Group, a 

contract lobbying firm, received a total of $33,096 in compensation to lobby during calendar 
year 2018.  The L-3 report for 2018 was required to have been filed the last day of February 
2019 and was timely filed on February 28, 2019.    
 

Responses from Dmitri Iglitzin:  
 
• Mr. Iglitzin submitted a total of three responses on behalf of ATULC that included the initial 

response received by the PDC on January 19, 2019 (Exhibit #3); a supplemental response to 
PDC staff’s questions that was received on March 11, 2019 (Exhibit #4); and additional 
information as a follow-up to the March 11th response that was received on March 15, 2019 
(Exhibit #5).   
 

• Mr. Iglitzin stated that ATULC devotes its efforts, time and resources in three main areas that 
includes supporting “substantial lobbying efforts at ATULC’s expense” at the state level; 
providing educational training for Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU) locals and their 
members; and providing a forum for information to ATU locals and their members.  As noted 
above, ATULC has been registered and reporting as a Lobbyist Employer for at least 25 
years and lobbying activities are where the majority of ATULC funds are spent.   
 

• Mr. Iglitzin stated that one of ATULC purposes is to support legislation through lobbying 
efforts and added “while ATULC participates in elections by making contributions that 
support candidates, or that support or oppose ballot measures, it is not one of ATULC’s 
primary purposes.”  He stated that an analysis of ATULC’s average spending indicates only 
22.6% of its expenditures over the past five years has been dedicated to electoral political 
activity.   He stated by contrast, ATULC spent just shy of that – 22.3% of its expenditures 
over five years – on office and administrative expenses alone, and added ATULC spent 
roughly the same amount of money supporting/opposing candidates and ballot measures for 
the three year period as it spent on overhead, which does not indicate it’s one of ATULC’s 
primary purposes.    

 
• Mr. Iglitzin stated the ATULC “devotes its efforts to functioning as a forum for Washington 

State ATU locals and providing educational training for those locals and their members, as 
well as to support substantial lobbying efforts at ATULC’s expense.” He acknowledged 
ATULC made expenditures in support of candidates or election initiatives during the period 
covered in the complaint, however “electoral political activity is not one of ATULC’s 
primary purposes.” 
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• Mr. Iglitzin stated that “An assessment of whether electoral activity is one of an 

organization’s primary goals looks to, among other things, the stated goals and mission of 
the organization, whether the organization’s actions further its stated goals and mission, 
whether the stated goals and mission would be substantially achieved by a favorable 
outcome in an upcoming election, and whether the organization uses means other than 
electoral activity to achieve those goals… The stated goals of ATULC, its actions to further 
those goals, the impact of a favorable election on those goals, and the means which ATULC 
uses to achieve those goals all establish that the organization does not qualify as a political 
committee under the expenditures prong.”   
 

• Mr. Iglitzin stated that ATULC’s own website explains that its purposes are to: (1) “Protect 
the rights of the members of the Amalgamated Transit Union at the level of political activity 
that can be generated by the combined efforts of this Legislative Council composed of the 
Local unions embodied within the State of Washington; (2) Promote and support new 
legislation before the government bodies of our State by lobbying effectively with the elected 
officials who have the authority and responsibility of representing the citizens of Washington 
State; (3) Cooperate with our Local Unions, and to form a stronger political bond of 
cohesion with the Washington State Labor Council, and other Labor Councils in the cities 
where our transit Locals are centered; and (4) Encourage our memberships to be politically 
alert on matters that affect their livelihood and create a more favorable public sentiment 
towards the Transportation Industry.”  

• Mr. Iglitzin stated ATULC does not receive dues payments from individual union members, 
and instead receives lump sum transfers from local transit unions, with those lump sum 
transfers to ATULC from the locals being the only funds received.  He stated individual 
members’ dues payments are not segregated into a fund for political purposes even at the 
local level, much less by ATULC and instead the ATU locals transmit money to ATULC on 
a per capita basis based on the number of dues paying members for each local unit.    
   

• Mr. Iglitzin stated that ATULC does not qualify as a political committee under the “maker of 
expenditures” found in RCW 42.17A.005(41) which “not only have made or expected to 
make expenditures in support of a candidate or election initiative, it must also have had as 
one of its primary purposes supporting election candidates or initiatives.”   He provided 
information in response to staffs request concerning ATULC expenditure activities for 
calendar years 2014, 2016, and 2018 and staff reviewed filing information covering 2014-
2018. 

 
Staff Analysis, Summary and late filed L-3 report: 

• ATULC’s percentage of expenditures for monetary contributions to candidates and political 
committees was 35% in 2016, and 30% in 2018, respectively.  Staff, however, noted that 33 
of the 41 contributions made by ATULC in 2016 contributions were expenditures made on 
two dates: June 3, 2016 (21 contributions); and September 16, 2016 (11 contributions).  

• Staff noted that more than 80% of the ATULC contributions made to candidates for public 
office in 2016 were made over the course of two days. In contrast, its lobbying and 
membership outreach and services were ongoing throughout the calendar year.  Although 
ATULC made expenditures in support of candidates, the totality of the evidence does not 
suggest that ATULC is a political committee, because the making of those expenditures was 
not its primary purpose, or even one of its primary purposes. 
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• On January 31, 2018, ATULC filed the L-3 report for calendar year 2016 disclosing that 

Johnson Arledge Strategies, a contract lobbying firm, provided lobbying services during the 
2016 Legislative Session and the remainder of calendar year 2016.   The L-3 report disclosed 
that ATULC made payments totaling $25,200 to Johnson Arledge Strategies as compensation 
for lobbying services. 

• The L-3 report for calendar year 2016 was required to have been filed by ATULC no later 
than the last day of February 2017.  While not listed as an allegation in the complaint filed 
against the ATULC, the L-3 report was filed 337 days late by ATULC on January 31, 2018.   

• On April 2, 2020, ATULC completed a Statement of Understanding (SOU) and paid a $150 
civil penalty in accordance with WAC 390-37-143 (Brief Enforcement Penalty Schedule), 
acknowledging a violation of RCW 42.17A.630 for failing to timely file the Annual Report 
of Lobbyist Employers (L-3 reports) for calendar year 2016.   

• The $150 penalty assessed and paid by ATULC in this matter resolves the issue of the late 
filed L-3 report for 2016. 

 
III. 

Scope 
 

3.1 PDC staff reviewed the following documents: 
 
• On December 11, 2018, a complaint with exhibits was filed by Maxford Nelson with 

the Freedom Foundation  against the Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council 
of Washington State.  
 

• On February 1, 2019, Mr. Nelson on behalf of the Freedom Foundation, submitted a 
supplemental letter in response to the letter submitted by Mr. Iglitzin. 

 
• On April 15, 2019, Mr. Nelson on behalf of the Freedom Foundation submitted 

supplemental complaint information against the ATULC that included federal 
Department of Labor LM-3 reports filed for calendar years 2012 through 2018.  
Exhibit #6. 

 
• Annual Report of Lobbyist Employers (L-3 reports) and the Monthly Lobbyist 

Employer Contributions report (L-3c reports) filed by the Amalgamated Transit 
Union Legislative Council of Washington State. 

 
• Responses and email exchanges between PDC staff and Dmitri Iglitzin, legal counsel  

with Schwerin Campbell Barnard Iglitzin & Lavitt LLP on behalf of Amalgamated 
Transit Union Legislative Council of Washington State.   

 
3.2 PDC staff queried the PDC Contribution and Expenditure database for Amalgamated 

Transit Union Legislative Council of Washington State for contribution information 
covering calendar years 2014 through 2018. 
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IV. 
Statutes and Rules 

 
4.1 RCW 42.17A.205 requires every entity and organization to register as political committee 

within two weeks after the organization or entity first has the expectation of receiving 
contributions or making expenditures in any election campaign. 
 

4.2 RCW 42.17A.235 and 240 requires political committees under the Full Reporting Option 
to file timely, accurate C-3 and C-4 reports disclosing contribution and expenditure 
activities undertaken by the committee.  Under the full reporting option, until five months 
before the general election, C-4 reports are required monthly when contributions or 
expenditures exceed $200 since the last report.   
 
Beginning June 1st for every political committees participating in an election, C-4 reports 
are required 21 and 7 days before each election in which the committee receives 
contributions or makes expenditures, and in the month following the election.   
Monetary contributions are reported weekly during this same time and are required to be 
disclosed on a C-3 report filed every Monday for monetary contributions deposited into the 
committee bank account the previous five business days. 

 
4.3 RCW 42.17A.630 requires employers of a lobbyist to file an Annual Lobbyist Employer’s 

Report (L-3 report) by the last day of February disclosing lobbying activities undertaken 
during the previous calendar year. 
 

4.4 PDC Interpretation 07-02, Primary Purpose Test Guidelines for a Political Committee. 
 
Respectfully submitted this 6th day of April 2020. 

 
s/_____________________________    
Electronically Signed by Kurt Young 
PDC Compliance Officer 
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List of Exhibits 
 

Exhibit #1     December 11, 2018, complaint filed by Maxford Nelson with the Freedom 
Foundation against the Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council of 
Washington State (ATULC).  (Note – this exhibit only includes the complaint and 
letter without attached exhibits). 

 
Exhibit #2 January 31, 2019, supplementary complaint information provided by Freedom  

 Foundation. 
 
Exhibit #3 January 19, 2019, initial response received from Dmitri Iglitzin, an attorney on 

behalf of ATULC. 
 
Exhibit #4 March 11, 2019, supplemental response received from Mr. Iglitzin on behalf of  

ATULC to PDC staff questions.  
 
Exhibit #5      March 15, 2019, additional information provided by Mr. Iglitzin on behalf of  

ATULC. 
 

Exhibit #6      April 15, 2019, letter from the Freedom Foundation providing supplemental  
complaint information against the ATULC.   



Complaint Description 

Maxford Nelsen reported an issue (Tue, 11 Dec 2018 at 5:28 PM) 
 
 See attached. 

What impact does the alleged violation(s) have on the public? 
See attached. 

List of attached evidence or contact information where evidence may be found. 
See attached. 
List of potential witnesses with contact information to reach them.  
See attached. 
Complaint Certification: 
I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that 
information provided with this complaint is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. 

 

Exhibit #1 
Page 1 of 7

https://wapdc.freshdesk.com/a/contacts/13015207714


 

 

 

December 11, 2018 

 

Public Disclosure Commission  

711 Capitol Way S. #206  

P.O. Box 40908  

Olympia, WA 98504  

 

 

Public Disclosure Commission Staff, 

 

Pursuant to RCW 42.17A.775, I write to report violations of the Fair Campaign Practices Act 

(“FCPA”), Chapter 42.17A RCW, by the Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council of 

Washington State (“ATULC”).1 

 

In brief, ATULC has operated as a political committee for years without filing a statement of 

organization with the Public Disclosure Commission (“PDC”) as required by RCW 42.17A.205. 

As an unregistered political committee, ATULC has also failed to comply with the other 

provisions of Chapter 42.17A RCW governing the conduct and reporting requirements of 

political committees. 

 

ATULC not only describes its purpose in explicitly political terms, but it receives contributions 

from ATU locals around Washington with the understanding the funds will be used to advance 

electoral political activity. In election years, ATULC spending on political activity increases 

dramatically, to half or more of its total expenditures. ATULC has no full-time staff and, beyond 

what appear to be basic administrative costs, has little-to-no expenses other than political 

contributions. Accordingly, it satisfies both the “receiver of contributions” and “maker of 

expenditures” prongs of the definition of “political committee” as recognized by the courts and 

should be held to account for its lack of disclosure.  

 

Factual background 

  

Section 40.2 of the Amalgamated Transit Union (“ATU”) Constitution and General Laws allows 

local unions in a state to form a statewide entity for the purpose of coordinating political activity, 

providing: 

 

“Where a majority of the LUs [local unions] in a state or province, with the approval of 

the IU [international union], enact to form a joint conference board for mutual aid and 

protection, exchange of information, the furthering of organizing and organizing 

campaigns, legislative and political action, and community action programs, in 

accordance with the charters or directions issued by the IU, then, in that event, all LUs 

within that state or province shall be obligated to affiliate and support the work of such 

1 1308 Meador Ave C-1, Bellingham, WA 98229. (360) 738-3299. President: Randal Son, atulcpres@gmail.com. 

Vice president: Rick Swartz, atu883finsec@comcast.net. Secretary-treasurer: AJ Wolcott, atulc.fst@gmail.com  
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joint conference board. The conference board shall establish monthly per capita tax 

through the bylaws of such conference board as approved by the IP [international 

president].”2 

 

See Appendix page 171.  

 

The ATULC is such a “joint conference board” for ATU locals in Washington. Its website 

describes its purpose as follows: 

 

“The Washington State Legislative Council exists under the authorization of the 

Amalgamated Transit Union International Constitution and General By-Laws. 

 

To protect the rights of the members of the Amalgamated Transit Union at the level of 

political activity that can be generated by the combined efforts of this Legislative Council 

composed of the Local Unions embodied within the State of Washington. 

 

To promote and support new legislation before the government bodies of our State by 

lobbying effectively with the elected officials who have the authority and responsibility 

of representing the citizens of Washington State. 

 

To cooperate with our Local Unions, and to form a stronger political bond of cohesion 

with the Washington State Labor Council, and other Labor Councils in the cities where 

our transit Locals are centered. 

 

To encourage our memberships to be politically alert on matters that affect their 

livelihood, and create a more favorable public sentiment towards the Transportation 

Industry.”3 

 

See App. 206.  

 

The ATULC filed a form 8871, notice of Section 527 status, with the Internal Revenue Service 

(“IRS”) in 2007, claiming the tax benefits of a “political organization” under federal law. See 

App. 207. 26 U.S.C. § 527(e)(1) defines “political organization” as: 

 

“…a party, committee, association, fund, or other organization (whether or not 

incorporated) organized and operated primarily for the purpose of directly or indirectly 

accepting contributions or making expenditures, or both, for an exempt function.” 

 

“Exempt function” is defined by subsection (e)(2) as: 

 

“…the function of influencing or attempting to influence the selection, nomination, 

election, or appointment of any individual to any Federal, State, or local public office…” 

 

ATULC describes its purpose on its form 8871 as, “promot[ing] legislation and candidates 

2 A copy of the ATU Constitution is available online at: https://www.atu.org/atu-pdfs/CGL2016_FINAL.pdf 
3 Available online at: http://www.atulcwa.org/index.cfm?zone=/unionactive/view_article.cfm&HomeID=510298 
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supportive for Amalgamated Transit Union member in the State of Washington” (errors in 

original). See App. 207. 

 

According to financial disclosure forms LM-3 ATULC files with the U.S. Department of Labor’s 

Office of Labor Management Standards (“OLMS”) in accordance with the federal Labor 

Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of 1959, ATULC has no paid staff and is run by a 

board of unpaid volunteers comprised of union officials from ATU locals in Washington. See 

App. 236. 

 

Its forms LM-3 divide ATULC’s annual expenditures into four categories: (1) Office and 

administrative expense4; (2) professional fees5; (3) contributions, gifts and grants6; and (4) 

other.7 See App. 213, 217, 222, 227, 232, and 237.   

 

 
 

Beyond the basic administrative costs necessary to exist, ATULC’s only expenditures are for 

“contributions, gifts and grants.” On average, this category accounts for half of ATULC’s 

expenditures, a proportion that consistently spikes during election years.  

 

Most, if not all, of the expenditures in the “contributions, gifts and grants” category are for 

political contributions to candidates, ballot measures and political committees.  

 

For instance, on its forms LM-3 for 2014 and 2015, ATULC itemized its political contributions 

under item 56, reporting $29,150 in contributions in 2014 (out of $36,594 total contributions, 

gifts and grants) and $10,400 in 2013 (exactly the same as the amount of reported contributions, 

gifts and grants). See App. 223 and 228.  

 

Tracking ATULC’s political expenditures in disclosures filed with the PDC is difficult. Since 

ATULC has not registered as a political committee, the only records of its expenditures are those 

filed by recipients of ATULC funds. Recipients use multiple different titles/labels to describe 

ATULC.  

 

Records the Freedom Foundation has been able to identify appear to indicate that ATULC made 

political expenditures totaling at least $61,265 in 2012, $12,000 in 2013, $24,650 in 2014, 

4 See Statement B, item 48 of the forms LM-3. 
5 See Statement B, item 49 of the forms LM-3. 
6 See Statement B, item 51 of the forms LM-3. 
7 See Statement B, item 54 of the forms LM-3. There are no expenses listed in this category for 2012-15 or 2017. 

There are $983 worth of “other” expenses recorded on the 2016 form LM-3.  

Amount
%  of 

Disbursements
Amount

%  of 

Disbursements
Amount

%  of 

Disbursements

PDC 

Contributions

%  of 

Disbursements

%  of 

Receipts

2012 $55,770 $73,447 $4,990 6.8% $2,000 2.7% $66,457 90.5% $61,265 83.4% 109.9%

2013 $81,659 $45,619 $7,355 16.1% $3,014 6.6% $35,250 77.3% $12,000 26.3% 14.7%

2014 $89,954 $80,506 $11,688 14.5% $32,224 40.0% $36,594 45.5% $24,650 30.6% 27.4%

2015 $85,714 $61,378 $15,118 24.6% $35,860 58.4% $10,400 16.9% $4,900 8.0% 5.7%

2016 $85,408 $101,442 $21,549 21.2% $29,410 29.0% $49,500 48.8% $43,050 42.4% 50.4%

2017 $92,753 $67,153 $23,568 35.1% $33,885 50.5% $9,700 14.4% $3,950 5.9% 4.3%

Total $491,258 $429,545 $84,268 19.6% $136,393 31.8% $207,901 48.4% $149,815 34.9% 30.5%

Contributions, gifts and 

grantsTotal 

Disbursements
Year

Total 

Receipts

Office and 

Administrative Expense
Professional Fees PDC Contributions
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$4,900 in 2015, $43,050 in 2016, $3,950 in 2017, and $30,000 in 2018. See App. 239-245. 

 

Violations of the FCPA 

 

RCW 42.17A.205 requires every “political committee” to “file a statement of organization” with 

the PDC “within two weeks after organization or within two weeks after the date the committee 

first has the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in any election 

campaign, whichever is earlier.”  

 

RCW 42.17A.005(40) defines “political committee” as: 

 

“…any person… having the expectation of receiving contributions or making  

expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or any ballot proposition.” 

 

Three Washington court decisions have clarified and interpreted this definition.  

  

In State of Washington v. Dan J. Evans Campaign Committee, 86 Wn.2d 503 (1976), the State 

Supreme Court determined that an entity satisfies the expenditures prong of the definition of 

“political committee” if affecting, “directly or indirectly, governmental decision making by 

supporting or opposing candidates or ballot propositions” is “the primary or one of the primary 

purposes” of the entity. 

 

In Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398 (2015), the Washington State  

Supreme Court confirmed that an organization may be considered a “political committee” if one 

of its primary purposes is to engage in electoral political activity; electoral political activity need 

not be the primary purpose of the entity for it to fulfill the definition of “political committee.”  

 

Lastly, in State ex rel. Evergreen Freedom Foundation v. Washington Education Association, 

111 Wn. 586 (2002), the court of appeals interpreted the definition of “political committee” to 

mean,  

 

“…a person or organization may become a political committee by either (1) expecting to 

receive or receiving contributions, or (2) expecting to make or making expenditures to 

further electoral political goals.” 

 

ATULC fulfills both the “receiver of contributions” and “maker of expenditures” prongs of the 

definition of “political committee.” 

 

The per capita payments ATULC receives from ATU locals in Washington are contributions 

made in expectation of furthering electoral political goals. Because the bylaws of the national 

ATU requires ATU locals to pay per capita taxes to ATULC as a “joint conference board,” 

ATULC has an expectation of receiving and does receive the per capita payments to use as 

political contributions.  

 

This alone is sufficient to qualify ATULC as a political committee under the “receiver of  

contributions” prong. However, ATULC also fulfills the “expenditures prong” of the definition  
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of “political committee.” 

 

In EFF v. WEA, the appeals court expounded on the primary purpose test established by the State 

Supreme Court in State of Washington v. Dan Evans, including the following observations: 

 

“…an appropriate framework for determining whether electoral political activity is one of 

an organization's primary purposes should include an examination of the stated goals and 

mission of the organization and whether electoral political activity was a primary means 

of achieving the stated goals and mission during the period in question. Under this 

analysis, a nonexclusive list of analytical tools a court may use when evaluating the 

evidence includes: (1) the content of the stated goals and mission of the organization; (2) 

whether the organization's actions further its stated goals and mission; (3) whether the 

stated goals and mission of the organization would be substantially achieved by a 

favorable outcome in an upcoming election; and (4) whether the organization uses means 

other than electoral political activity to achieve its stated goals and mission.” 

 

ATULC repeatedly describes its own purpose as engaging in “political activity” and “promoting 

candidates.”  

 

Additionally, the organization’s actions clearly line up with its stated goals. Indeed, an analysis 

of ATULC’s finances indicates that it performs no substantive function that is not political. 

Other than administrative expenses, ATULC appears to have few expenses other than the making 

of political contributions. With no staff and little other measurable activity to speak of, it does 

not appear that ATULC “uses means other than electoral political activity to achieve its stated 

[political] goals and mission.” 

 

To be considered a “political committee” under the expenditures prong for the purposes of the 

FCPA, ATULC need only have as one of its primary purposes the influencing of electoral 

political activity. It meets this threshold without question.  

 

Lastly, it is worth noting that, in a situation with almost identical facts, the Washington State 

Attorney General’s Office is currently prosecuting the SEIU Washington State Council for its 

failure to register and report to the PDC as a political committee.8 Like ATULC, the SEIU 

Washington State Council is an entity created under the national SEIU bylaws that collects a per 

capita tax from all SEIU locals in Washington for the purposes of engaging in and coordinating 

SEIU’s electoral political activity in Washington.  

 

Conclusion 

 

ATULC’s failure to register and report as a political committee as required by the FCPA has 

tangibly negative implications for the transparency of Washington elections. For example, 

political contributions made by ATULC are labeled differently by various recipients of ATULC 

funds, making it difficult to know the true source of the contributions and to track ATULC’s 

8 Washington State Office of the Attorney General. “AGO files campaign finance complaint against SEIU 

Washington State Council.” July 11, 2017. https://www.atg.wa.gov/news/news-releases/ago-files-campaign-finance-

complaint-against-seiu-washington-state-council 

Exhibit #1 
Page 6 of 7



political activity.  

 

Further, the reporting regime required by the law requires both the contributing political 

committee and the receiving political committee or candidate to report the transaction to the 

PDC. This dual reporting promotes transparency, as both the contributor and recipient would 

have to fail to report the transfer of funds for it to go unnoticed. ATULC’s failure to properly 

register as a political committee thwarts this system of accountability. Since ATULC already 

does not report its contributions, the transfer of funds would be invisible to the public if only the 

recipients of ATULC funds neglected to report as required.  

 

We respectfully request that the PDC perform an investigation into these allegations and take 

appropriate enforcement action. Please do not hesitate to contact me if I can be of assistance.  

 

Thank you for your time and consideration.  

 

Sincerely, 

 
Maxford Nelsen 

Director of Labor Policy 

Freedom Foundation 

P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 

(360) 956-3482 

mnelsen@freedomfoundation.com 
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April 15, 2019 

 

Kurt Young 

Public Disclosure Commission  

711 Capitol Way S. #206  

P.O. Box 40908  

Olympia, WA 98504  

 

Re: Case No. 43940 

 

 

Mr. Young, 

 

Additional information has come to my attention that is relevant to the Public Disclosure 

Commission’s “(PDC”) ongoing investigation into the alleged violations of the Fair Campaign 

Practices Act (“FCPA”) by the Amalgamated Transit Union Legislative Council (“ATULC”). 

 

As you know, my original complaint examined ATULC’s political activity from 2012 through 

2017 and contended that it should have registered with the PDC as a political committee. 

However, reports recently made publicly available suggest ATULC continued to function as an 

unregistered political committee throughout calendar year 2018. 

 

As discussed in the original complaint, ATULC is required by the Labor Management Reporting 

and Disclosure Act of 1959 to annually file financial disclosure forms LM-3 with the U.S. 

Department of Labor’s Office of Labor Management Standards (“OLMS”). ATULC’s form LM-

3 for calendar year 2018 was recently filed with OLMS. See Appendix pages 2-6.  

 

ATULC’s forms LM-3 generally divide its annual expenditures into four categories: (1) Office 

and administrative expense1; (2) professional fees2; (3) contributions, gifts and grants3; and (4) 

other.4 ATULC recorded paying its officers and staff for the first time on its 2018 LM-3.5 For the 

purposes of the chart below, the amount paid to ATULC’s officers is included as part of “office 

and administrative expenses.”    

 

The LM-3 indicated ATULC had total revenue of $82,245 and made $104,295 in disbursements 

in 2018. Over the same period, C3 and C4 reports filed with the PDC by recipients of ATULC 

contributions indicate it made at least $30,250 in reportable political expenditures in 2018. See 

App. 7. Thus, at least 29% of ATULC’s disbursements and 36.8% of its revenue went towards 

reportable political expenditures in 2018.  

1 See Statement B, item 48 of the forms LM-3. 
2 See Statement B, item 49 of the forms LM-3. 
3 See Statement B, item 51 of the forms LM-3. 
4 See Statement B, item 54 of the forms LM-3. 
5 See Statement B, item 45 of the forms LM-3.  
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The amount spent by ATULC on reportable political activity in 2018 is sufficient to establish 

that electoral political activity continues to be one of its primary purposes, lobbying being the 

only other noteworthy purpose as reflected both by the union’s own description of its mission 

and its actual expenditures.  

 

I hope this information proves useful to your investigation. Please do not hesitate to let me know 

if you have any questions or if I can be of any further assistance in this matter.  

 

Sincerely,  

 
Maxford Nelsen 

Director of Labor Policy 

Freedom Foundation 

P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 

(360) 956-3482 

mnelsen@freedomfoundation.com 

Amount
%  of 

Disbursements
Amount

%  of 

Disbursements
Amount

%  of 

Disbursements

PDC 

Contributions

%  of 

Disbursements

%  of 

Receipts

2012 $55,770 $73,447 $4,990 6.8% $2,000 2.7% $66,457 90.5% $61,265 83.4% 109.9%

2013 $81,659 $45,619 $7,355 16.1% $3,014 6.6% $35,250 77.3% $12,000 26.3% 14.7%

2014 $89,954 $80,506 $11,688 14.5% $32,224 40.0% $36,594 45.5% $24,650 30.6% 27.4%

2015 $85,714 $61,378 $15,118 24.6% $35,860 58.4% $10,400 16.9% $4,900 8.0% 5.7%

2016 $85,408 $101,442 $21,549 21.2% $29,410 29.0% $49,500 48.8% $43,050 42.4% 50.4%

2017 $92,753 $67,153 $23,568 35.1% $33,885 50.5% $9,700 14.4% $3,950 5.9% 4.3%

2018 $82,245 $104,295 $27,113 26.0% $42,282 40.5% $34,900 33.5% $30,250 29.0% 36.8%

Total $573,503 $533,840 $111,381 20.9% $178,675 33.5% $242,801 45.5% $180,065 33.7% 31.4%

PDC Contributions
Contributions, gifts and 

grantsTotal 

Disbursements
Year

Total 

Receipts

Office and Administrative 

Expense
Professional Fees
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